COMPASS

Annual Report 2013

Table of Contents

•	CEO's Message
•	Board of Directors
•	Highlights of the year
	18 th COMPASS Awards Presentation
	My Music Journey 2013
	Project Rentak Komedi 2013
•	Sponsorship
	Financial Statements
	Directors' Report
	Statement by Directors
	Independent Auditors' Report
	Statement of Financial Position
	Statement of Comprehensive Income
	Statement of Cash Flows
	Notes to the Financial Statements

CEO's Message

2013 became a milestone year in the public debate about protecting intellectual property (IP). Four of my articles on copyright protection were published by the Straits Times.

I have highlighted the need to raise awareness of the crucial impact IP has on our daily lives, especially our jobs in the future.

Our mature economy now provides technology - and knowledge-intensive products to compete in the global markets. Without adequate respect and enforcement of patents, trademarks and copyrights, our economic prospects will be dimmed.

Our arts and culture scene has also become more vibrant with a strong local cultural identity. Many more local songwriters and artistes are now able to become full-time professionals — not merely motivated by their passion but also the reasonable economic returns from the copyright royalties earned through exploitation of their creative works.

IP protection is vital to the promotion of creativity and innovation - the lifeblood of our economy and culture.

In the midst of the debate, our operations continue to defy challenges and recorded creditable achievements in the year under review.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

Revenue

COMPASS achieved its 21st consecutive year of growth with a growth rate of 6.2% exceeding the GDP growth of 3.7%.

Collections from all local sources recorded healthy growth except for Permits which saw a decline of 6.7%. Overseas revenue also suffered a drop of 16.5%.

Licence Renewals of existing establishments recorded a jump of more than 20% indicating that few outlets have closed down in the course of the year. New Licences is also on an upward trend, expanded by 21%.

Once-off live performance permits declined by 6% after it crossed \$3 million in the previous year.

Royalties from Singapore Airlines recorded a 'technical' decline as 2012's income included backdated payments of previous years after successful conclusion of a new licence agreement.

New Media's revenue continued on an upward trend recording 11.6% growth.

Revenues from broadcast mediums and cable TV, accounting for the largest share of the turnover, continued to grow, reaching \$6.6 million.

Revenues from mechanical and print rights royalties decreased to \$50,000.

Income from investing the cash flows recorded lower amount owing to smaller funds available for investment in view of the progressive payments for the new office premises.

Expenditure

Productivity growth is sustained which helped lower the administrative overhead costs which dropped further by half percentage point to 11.5%. The overall operating cost for the year 2013 was about \$2,421,609 which was well below the allocated budget of \$2,700,000. COMPASS is easily among the top collecting societies in terms of cost-to-revenue ratio.

Net Distributable Income

The net amount available for distribution for the year will increase to almost \$18.7 million, about 7 % more than prior year. Members and affiliated societies will continue to enjoy increased annual royalties from COMPASS since 1993.

ACTIVITIES

Licensing Activities

There were only about two complaints from clients that required the attention of senior management. Complaints were dealt with fairly and transparently in accordance with our Code of Conduct.

COMPASS is hosting the Secretary for the Joint Committee for the Implementation of the Code of Conduct for Collective Management Organisations (CMOs), representing different interest groups in the administration of copyright licences.

An independent code reviewer was appointed and an audit exercise of all participating CMOs was carried out in 2013. All CMOs passed the audit with proposed areas for improvement.

The increase in licence fees (average about 12%) was smoothly implemented without any adverse reaction from the licensees. All existing licensees were duly informed of the CPI increase in the all the relevant tariffs with a letter setting out the reasons for the increase one year in advance.

COMPASS is collaborating with some established background music service providers to provide digital music streaming services to retail and coffee outlets.

Membership

New members continued to be admitted. The membership strength as at 31st December 2013 is 1737 members (2012: 1597). This represents an increase of 140 members during the year. Breakdown of the members are as follow:-

	Writer	Publisher
Associate	1162	44
Full	502	29
Total	1664	73

Distribution

Regular distributions were timely carried out without any delays. This year, the distribution of backdated royalties for StarHub, in addition to ad hoc distributions for KOD and New Media, have been done to ensure minimum delay.

ISO 9000 Certification

Our ISO certification was renewed and following external audit on 6 February 2013. The next audit will take place in early March 2014. COMPASS remains the only collective society in Asia to have achieved ISO 9000 status.

MIS@ASIA & IT

MIS@ASIA is undergoing a major overhaul of the system to upgrade the software to enhance the performance and incorporating changes to take advantage of changes in technology and consolidating the current Local and Regional Database into one single database. The system will also include modules to incorporate changes to new specifications as provided by CISAC. The project is expected to be completed by end 2014.

The Licensing system that is being used since will be revamped as the current system software is not compatible with the latest operating systems available. Also the Licensing workflow has changed significantly and will require a system to provide the department with the necessary tools to function efficiently. It will be a comprehensive system and will seek to provide on the ground information to the Licensing staff. This project is expected to be completed by 2nd quarter 2015.

Overall COMPASS has a reasonably good year with a growth rate of 6.2% and recorded a historical low cost-to-revenue ratio of 11.5%. The revenue and expenditure targets were met. Our corporate brand remains strong. We will continue to endeavour with stringent corporate governance practices and proper checks and balances. We have good rapport with relevant government agencies and the political establishment. With the continuing support and trust of the Board and its membership, COMPASS should be able to reach its next milestone of exceeding \$22 million in revenue.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

(1 January 2013 – 31 December 2013)



Mr. Chang Kwai Ming (Chairman: Special Elected Director representing serious/classical music genre)



Prof. Jeremy Monteiro

Mr. Mohamed Noor Bin Mohamed Yusofe aka Yusnor Ef (Chairman: Special Elected Director representing Malay

music genre)



Writer Directors 作家董事

Mr. Eddino Abdul Hadi

Dr. Liang Wern Fook



BOARD OF **DIRECTORS**

Mr. Melvin Stuart **Ferdinands**



CEO & **Director** 总裁兼董事 Dr. Edmund Lam

Publisher Directors 出版商董事

Mr Andrew Wong

of Forward Music

Publishing



Director 独立董事 Mr. Choo Thiam Siew



Mr. Billy Koh of Touch Music Publishing



Ms Sharon Chua of Song Music Publishing

Composition of Standing Committees 2013

The standing Committees are formed to help guide and propose recommendations to the Council on areas under their respective charge.

Management Committee 毎四系日本

管理委员会

Terms of Reference

- To oversee the appointment of senior management and their remuneration packages.
- To review and endorse recommendations proposed by the CEO on major staff matters such as annual wage increment, performance bonus, welfare benefits.
- To review and endorse recommendations proposed by the CEO on annual budget and major expenditures.

Chairman Chang Kwai Ming

Members Jeremy Ian Monteiro Yusnor Ef Melvin Stuart Ferdinands

Public & Member Relations Committee

会员与公共关系委员会

- To help enhance the public image of COMPASS through directing various activities, such as song-writing competitions, public musical events, newsletters and event sponsorships.
- To advise and oversee the preparation and implementation of major events such as the annual COMPASS Awards.
- To review and make recommendations on applications for music scholarships.
- 4. To review and recommend membership applications.
- 5. To review and make recommendations on matters relating to Members' welfare benefits.

Chairman Jeremy Ian Monteiro

Members Chang Kwai Ming
Liang Wern Fook
Yusnor Ef
Billy Koh
(Touch Music Publishing)

Licensing & Distribution Committee

税收与分派制度委员会

- To review and make recommendations on proposed changes to the distribution rules.
- To review and make recommendations on major licensing matters, referred by the CEO & Directors.
- To review and propose follow-up actions on complaints and disputes involving Members and Licensees that could not be resolved at management level.

Chairman Melvin Stuart Ferdinands

Members Chang Kwai Ming Andrew Wong (Forward Music Publishing) Sharon Chua (Sony Music Publishing)

18th COMPASS AWARDS PRESENTATION

Resorts World Convention Centre, West Central Ballroom (Basement 2)

29 September 2013, 7.00pm 2013年9月29日

Guest of Honour:

Mr Lawrence Wong, Acting Minister
The Ministry of Culture, Community and Youth



TOP LOCAL ENGLISH POP SONG

最佳本地英语流行歌曲

Lagu Pop Inggeris Tempatan Terbaik

Song Title: **Home**

By: Dick Lee 李炳文 (Composer & Lyricist)

TOP LOCAL CHINESE POP SONG

最佳本地中文流行歌曲 / Lagu Pop China Tempatan Terbaik

Song Title: 记得 Ji De

By: JJ Lin 林俊杰 (Composer)



ASM C

TOP LOCAL MALAY POP SONG

最佳本地马来语流行歌曲 / Lagu Pop Melayu Tempatan Terbaik

Song Title: Maha Bisa Rahsia

By: Mazronizam Bin Ayub (Composer & Lyricist)

Mohamed Rizal Bin Mohamed Noor (Composer & Lyricist)

Hishamuddin Bin Abdul Rahman (Composer & Lyricist)

TOP LOCAL SOUNDTRACK

最佳本地配乐 / Soundtrack tempatan terbaik

Song Title: Milly Molly

Soundtrack of Milly Molly

By: August Lum 林海贤 (Composer)





5. TOP LOCAL SERIOUS MUSIC

最佳本地严肃音乐 / Muzik Serius Tempatan Terbaik

Song Title: Chinese Past One

By: Phoon Yew Tien

潘耀田

6. TOP LOCAL INSTRUMENTAL CONTEMPORARY

最佳本地现代乐曲 / Muzik Tempatan Bersifat Alatan Terbaik

Song Title: Aurora

By: **Chester Tan** 陈元熙



7. TOP LOCAL SONGWRITER OF THE YEAR 最佳本地歌曲创作人 / Penggubah Tempatan Terbaik

Recipient: JJ Lin

林俊杰

8. COMPASS YOUNG SONGWRITER OF THE YEAR 最佳本地青年歌曲创作人 / Penggubah Muda Terbaik

Recipient: August Lum

林海贤





9. TOP LOCAL PUBLISHER OF THE YEAR 最佳本地音乐出版商 / Penerbit Tempatan Terbaik

Recipient: Touch Music Publishing Pte Ltd

新加坡大石音乐有限公司



Recipient: Universal Music Publishing

新加坡環球音樂出版有限公司





12. PATRON OF MUSIC AWARD 本地音乐推动奖

Recipient: 1) Suhaimi Jais 2) Zakiah Halim



COMPASS th COMPASS wards Dresent 2018

林俊杰

Recipient: JJ Lin



13. WINGS OF EXCELLENCE AWARD 海外成就奖 / Anugerah Sayap Kecemerlangan

11. TOP LOCAL ARTISTE OF THE YEAR 最佳本地歌手 / Artis Tempatan Terbaik

Recipient: **Tay Chee Wei** 郑旨为

ASS

ation

14. ARTISTIC EXCELLENCE AWARD 卓越才艺奖 / Anugerah Artistik Cemerlang

Recipient: 1) Dr Goh Toh Chai 吴多才博士

2) Mohd Noor

3) Clement Chow 曹思平













15. MERITORIOUS AWARD 卓越贡献奖 / Anugerah Meritorious

Recipient: 1) Jiu Jian 玖建

2) Loi Fey Huei 黎沸挥

3) Dr Wong Su Sun 王素珊博士

My Music Journey 2013

Venue: Changi Prison (PAC)

Session Dates: 28 October 2013 to 9 December 2013

Finale: 20 December 2013







Project Rentak Komedi

Venue: Kallang Theatre

Date: 8 March 2013









Sponsorship

1	Perkamus - Perkamus Activities 2013	\$ 45,000
2	NTU Cultural Activities Club - Impresario 2013	\$ 2,500
3	Charles J Tan - Album Production "Maybe Somewhere North"	\$ 5,000
4	NTU Chinese Society - 19 th Music Express	\$ 1,500
5	COMPASS - 31 st Asian Composers League Festival	\$ 15,000
6	MS Works - Clash of the Bands 2013	\$ 1,123.50
7	Belcanto Philharmonic Society - Poetic Concert "Beautiful Island"	\$ 1,000
8	Serendip Productions - NLB The Songwriter Coaching Series	\$ 5,000
9	TAS Theatre - Stories of Love	\$ 1,000
10	Mohd Khair Bin Mohd Yasin - Book Publication	\$ 2,500
11	Association of Composers - Local Art Songs Singing Competition	\$ 3,000
12	Singapore Polytechnic - Book Prize	\$ 300
13	Ngee Ann Polytechnic - Book Prize	\$ 200
14	World IP Day - IPOS	\$ 10,000
15	MM2 Ent. Pte Ltd - "That Girl In Pinafore"	\$ 25,000
16	Melo Art Choir - 45 Yrs In Concert / 艺术合唱团45周年团庆	\$ 2,000

17	IPOS - IP Expedition (150 schools skit)	\$ 5,000
18	Association of Composers (Sg) - Harmonica Concert "Harmony Makes One"	\$ 2,000
19	TAS Theatre - Point, Line, Surface LEEs Composition	\$ 1,000
20	Sing Sheng Philharmonic Society - Sing Sheng 35th Anniversary Concert	\$ 2,000
21	Belcanto Philharmonic Society, The - Songs From The Young Voices	\$
22	Metro Philharmonic Society - Ocean Of Songs 2013	3,000
23	Brilliant Music & Art Association - A Night We Sing For You 为你歌唱	\$ 3,000
24	Md Famie B Sulaiman - Album Production "Bring Back The Vibe" 1	\$ 1,000
25	Jeremy Monteiro	\$ 5,000
26	- An Anthology of the Jazz Compositions by Jeremy TCR Station	\$ 40,000
27	- 明天31新遥演唱会 The Music Society, Sg	\$ 5,000
28	- SGMUSO Mediacorp	\$ 500
29	- Anugerah Planet Muzik 2013 Straits Music & Arts Society	\$ 30,000
30	- Lee Koh Song and Teachers' Vocal Recital Concert Wu Jie	\$ 2,000
31	- Wu Jie and The Followers Md Famie B Suliman	\$ 3,000
	- Hanoi Cama Festival (Flight & Freight)	\$ 2,876.12
32	NUS - 16th XQRJ Regional Songwriting Competition 2014	\$ 3,000
33	Mediacorp Radio - Projek Rentak – Rentak Cinta	\$ 35,000
34	Projek Rentak - Rentak Cinta - Judges and Audit	\$ 1,000

Financial Statement

(For the Year ended 2013)

- Directors' Report
- Statement by Directors
- Independent Auditors' Report
- Statement of Financial Position
- Statement of Comprehensive Income
- Statement of Cash Flows
- Notes to the Financial Statements

Composers and Authors Society of Singapore Limited Registration Number: 198701730Z

(A Company Limited by Guarantee)

Annual Report Year ended 31 December 2013

Directors' report

On behalf of all the directors of Composers and Authors Society of Singapore Limited, we are pleased to submit this annual report to the members together with the audited financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2013.

Directors

The directors in office at the date of this report are as follows:

Chang Kwai Ming
Mohd Noor Bin Mohd Yusofe
Jeremy Ian Monteiro
Melvin Stuart Ferdinands
Chua Khah Suan
Liang Wern Fook
Lam Kiu Hong Edmund
Billy Koh Whuan Liang
Choo Thiam Siew @ Ang Thiam Siew
Wong Fai
Eddino Bin Abdul Hadi

Directors' interests

As the Company is a company limited by guarantee and has no share capital, the statutory information required to be disclosed by the directors under Section 201(6)(g) and Section 201(12) of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 does not apply.

Neither at the end of, nor at any time during the financial year, was the Company a party to any arrangement whose objects are, or one of whose objects is, to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

Except for salaries, bonuses and fees and those benefits that are disclosed in note 14 to the financial statements, since the end of the last financial year, no director has received or become entitled to receive a benefit by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation with the director or with a firm of which he is a member or with a company in which he has a substantial financial interest.

Share options

As the Company is a company limited by guarantee and has no share capital, the statutory information required to be disclosed under Section 201 (I 2) of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 does not apply.

Auditors

The auditors, KPMG LLP, have indicated their willingness to accept re-appointment.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Chang Kwai Ming

Director

Lam Kin Hong Edmund

Ed murdlaw

Director

2 6 MAY 2014

Statement by Directors

In our opinion:

- (a) the financial statements set out on pages FS1 to FS16 are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company as at 31 December 2013 and the results and cash flows of the Company for the year ended on that date in accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50 and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards; and
- (b) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due.

The Board of Directors has, on the date of this statement, authorised these financial statements for issue.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Anemas

tmuedlan

Chang Kwai Ming

Director

Lam Kin Hong Edmund

Director

2.6 MAY 2014

Telephone Fax Internet +65 6213 3388 +65 6225 0984 www.kpmg.com.sg

Independent auditors' report

(A Company Limited by Guarantee)
Composers and Authors Society of Singapore Limited

Report on the financial statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Composers and Authors Society (the Company), which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2013, the statement of comprehensive income and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, as set out on pages FSI to FSI6.

Management's responsibility for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the Act) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards, and for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair profit and loss accounts and balance sheets and to maintain accountability of assets.

Auditors' responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.



Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company as at 31 December 2013 and the results and cash flows of the Company for the year ended on that date.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

KPMG LLP

Public Accountants and Chartered Accountants

Singapore

2.6 MAY 2014

Statement of financial position As at 31 December 2013

	Note	2013 \$	2012 \$
Assets		•	T
Property, plant and equipment	5	6,660,918	4,330,634
Financial assets	6	3,257,750	3,759,000
Non-current assets	_	9,918,668	8,089,634
Financial assets	6	3,501,250	1,537,597
Other receivables	7	405,140	527,850
Cash and cash equivalents	8	35,607,493	36,241,088
Current assets	_	39,513,883	38,306,535
Total assets	_	49,432,551	46,396,169
Funds attributable to members			
Reserve fund	9	6,043	6,043
Retained surplus		307,110	285,336
Total funds	_	313,153	291,379
Liabilities			
Trade and other payables	10	49,119,398	46,104,790
Current liabilities/Total liabilities	_	49,119,398	46,104,790
Total equity and liabilities	_	49,432,551	46,396,169

Statement of comprehensive income As at 31 December 2013

	Note	2013	2012
		\$	\$
Revenue	11	20,948,490	19,954,224
Other income		393,281	533,450
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment		(74,008)	(72,708)
Operating expenses		(2,540,687)	(2,270,838)
Royalty distribution to members		(18,705,302)	(18,122,785)
Surplus from operations before tax	12	21,774	21,343
Tax credit	13	_	_
Surplus for the year/Total comprehensive income for the year	_		
		21,774	21,343
Retained surplus brought forward		285,336	263,993
Retained surplus carried forward	_	307,110	285,336

No separate statement of changes in equity has been prepared as the total comprehensive income for the year would be the only component of this statement.

Statement of cash flows Year ended 31 December 2013

	2013 \$	2012 \$
Cash flows from operating activities		
Surplus from operations before tax	21,774	21,343
Adjustments for:		
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment	74,008	72,708
Interest income	(393,281)	(528,450)
Royalty distribution to members	18,705,302	18,122,785
	18,407,803	17,688,386
Change in other receivables	(35,219)	(139,912)
Change in royalty distribution paid	(15,514,484)	(13,182,523)
Change in trade and other payables	(176,210)	192,889
Net cash generated from operating activities	2,681,890	4,558,840
Cash flows from investing activities		
Interest received	551,210	416,002
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment	(2,404,292)	(2,704,810)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets	1,537,597	_
Purchase of financial assets	(3,000,000)	(751,500)
Net cash used in investing activities	(3,315,485)	(3,040,308)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents	(633,595)	1,518,532
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January	36,241,088	34,722,556
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December	35,607,493	36,241,088

Notes to the financial statements

These notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the directors c 2 6 MAY 2014

1 Domicile and activities

Composers and Authors Society of Singapore Limited (the "Company") is incorporated in the Republic of Singapore as a company limited by guarantee. The address of the Company's registered office is 37 Craig Road, Singapore 089675.

The principal activities of the Company are those relating to the licensing of public performances and broadcast use of music under its control.

2 Company limited by guarantee

The Company does not have a share capital. It is limited by guarantee, the liability of each of the 1,597 members as at 31 December 2013 (2012: 1,414) being an amount not exceeding \$10.

3 Basis of preparation

3.1 Statement of compliance

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (FRS).

3.2 Basis of measurement

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain financial assets and liabilities which are measured at fair value.

3.3 Functional and presentation currency

These financial statements are presented in Singapore dollars, which is the Company's functional currency. All financial information are presented in Singapore dollars, unless otherwise stated.

3.4 Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with FRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

There are no significant areas of critical judgements in the application of accounting policies that have significant effect on the amount recognised in the financial statements and assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment within the next financial year.

4 Significant accounting policies

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these financial statements.

4.1 Property, plant and equipment

Recognition and measurement

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed assets includes:

- the cost of materials and direct labour;
- any other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working condition for their intended use;
- when the Company has an obligation to remove the asset or restore the site, an estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located; and
- capitalised borrowing costs.

Cost may also include transfers from equity of any gain or loss on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of property, plant and equipment. Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment.

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined by comparing the proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment, and is recognised net within other income/other expenses in profit or loss.

Subsequent costs

The cost of replacing a component of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the component will flow to the Company, and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced component is derecognised. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Year ended 31 December 2013

Depreciation

Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset less its residual value. Significant components of individual assets are assessed and if a component has a useful life that is different from the remainder of that asset, that component is depreciated separately.

Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each component of an item of property, plant and equipment. Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives unless it is reasonably certain that the Company will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term.

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative years are as follows:

Leasehold land and building-50 yearsRenovations-7 yearsFurniture, fittings and office equipment-7 yearsMotor vehicles-7 yearsComputer equipment-5 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted if appropriate.

4.2 Financial instruments

Non-derivative financial assets

The Company initially recognises loans and receivables and deposits on the date that they are originated. All other financial assets (including assets designated at fair value through profit or loss) are recognised initially on the trade date, which is the date that the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

The Company derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred. Any interest in transferred financial assets that is created or retained by the Company is recognised as a separate asset or liability.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when, and only when, the Company has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

The Company classifies non-derivative financial assets into the following categories: held-to-maturity financial assets and loans and receivables.

Held-to-maturity financial assets

If the Company has the positive intent and ability to hold debt securities to maturity, then such financial assets are classified as held-to-maturity. Held-to-maturity financial assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition held-to-maturity financial assets are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses.

Directors' report

Year ended 31 December 2013

Any sale or reclassification of a more than insignificant amount of held-to-maturity investments that are not close to their maturity would result in the reclassification of all held-to-maturity investments as available-for-sale, and prevent the Company from classifying investment securities as held-to-maturity for the current and the following two financial years.

Held-to-maturity financial assets comprise debt securities.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. Such assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses.

Loans and receivables comprise other receivables and cash and cash equivalents.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and bank balances and bank deposits.

Non-derivative financial liabilities

The Company initially recognises all financial liabilities on the trade date, which is the date that the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

The Company derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when, and only when, the Company has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

The Company classifies non-derivative financial liabilities into the other financial liabilities category. Such financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Other financial liabilities comprise trade and other payables.

Share capital

Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares and share options are recognised as a dednction from equity, net of any tax effects.

4.3 Leases

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

4.4 Impairment

Non-derivative financial assets

A financial asset not carried at fair value through profit or loss is assessed at the end of each reporting period to determine whether there is objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is impaired if objective evidence indicates that a loss event has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, and that the loss event had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset that can be estimated reliably.

Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired can include default or delinquency by a debtor, restructuring of an amount due to the Company on terms that the Company would not consider otherwise, indications that a debtor or issuer will enter bankruptcy, adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers or issuers in the Company, economic conditions that correlate with defaults or the disappearance of an active market for a security.

Loans and receivables

The Company considers evidence of impairment for loans and receivables at both a specific asset and collective level. All individually significant loans and receivables are assessed for specific impairment. All individually significant receivables found not to be specifically impaired are then collectively assessed for any impairment that has been incurred but not yet identified. Loans and receivables that are not individually significant are collectively assessed for impairment by grouping together loans and receivables with similar risk characteristics.

In assessing collective impairment, the Company uses historical trends of the probability of default, the timing of recoveries and the amount of loss incurred, adjusted for management's judgement as to whether current economic and credit conditions are such that the actual losses are likely to be greater or less than suggested by historical trends.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows, discounted at the asset's original effective interest rate. Losses are recognised in profit or loss and reflected in an allowance account against loans and receivables. Interest on the impaired asset continues to be recognised. When a subsequent event (e.g. repayment by a debtor) causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss.

Non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Company's non-financial assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset's recoverable amount is estimated. An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its related cash-generating unit (CGU) exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.

Year ended 31 December 2013

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or CGU.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in respect of CGUs are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the CGU on a *pro rata* basis.

In respect of other assets, impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset's carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

4.5 Employee benefits

Defined contribution plan

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contribution into a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an employee benefit expense in profit or loss in the periods during which services are rendered by employees.

Short-term benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing plans if the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee, and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

4.6 Tax

Tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or in other comprehensive income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously.

A deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences, to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

In determining the amount of current and deferred tax, the Company takes into account the impact of uncertain tax positions and whether additional taxes and interest may be due. The Company believes that its accruals for tax liabilities are adequate for all open tax years based on its assessment of many factors, including interpretations of tax law and prior experience. This assessment relies on estimates and assumptions and may involve a series of judgements about future events. New information may become available that causes the Company to change its judgement regarding the adequacy of existing tax liabilities; such changes to tax liabilities will impact tax expense in the period that such a determination is made.

4.7 Revenue recognition

Revenue from licence and permit fees are recognised in accordance with the substance of the agreement. In some cases, licence fee to be received is contingent on the occurrence of a future event. Such revenue is recognised when recovery of the consideration is probable and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably.

Interest income from bank deposits is accrued on a time-apportioned basis on the principal outstanding and at the rate applicable.

4.8 New standards and interpretations not adopted

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual periods beginning after 1 January 2013, and have not been applied in preparing these financial statements. None of these are expected to have a significant effect on the financial statements of the Company.

5 Property, Plant and Equipment

	Leasehold land and building \$	Renovations	Furniture, fittings and office equipment \$	Motor vehicles \$	Computer equipment \$	Total \$
Cost						
At 1 January 2012	3,292,345	281,020	105,370	97,188	199,217	3,975,140
Additions	2,670,800	_	1,240	_	32,770	2,704,810
At 31 December 2012	5,963,145	281,020	106,610	97,188	231,987	6,679,950
Additions	2,360,000	5,550	3,924	_	34,818	2,404,292
At 31 December 2013	8,323,145	286,570	110,534	97,188	266,805	9,084,242
Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses						
At 1 January 2012	1,770,185	258,752	67,862	20,825	158,984	2,276,608
Charge for the year	19,760	8,285	12,162	13,884	18,617	72,708
At 31 December 2012	1,789,945	267,037	80,024	34,709	177,601	2,349,316
Charge for the year	19,760	8,815	11,781	13,884	19,768	74,008
At 31 December 2013	1,809,705	275,852	91,805	48,593	197,369	2,423,324
Carrying amounts						
At 1 January 2012	1,522,160	22,268	37,508	76,363	40,233	1,698,532
At 31 December 2012	4,173,200	13,983	26,586	62,479	54,386	4,330,634
At 31 December 2013	6,513,440	10,718	18,729	48,595	69,436	6,660,918

6 Financial assets

	2013 \$	2012 \$
Non-current financial assets Held-to-maturity investments	3,257,750	3,759,000
Current financial assets Held-to-maturity investments	3,501,250 6,759,000	1,537,597 5,296,597

Held-to-maturity investments have stated interest rates of 4.0% to 5.9% (2012: 3.0% to 5.9%) and mature in 1 to 6 years.

The Company's exposure to interest rate risk related to financial assets is disclosed in note 16.

7	Other receivables	2013 \$	2012 \$
	Deposits	2,530	2,530
	Prepayments	311,051	268,971
	Interest receivable	91,559	249,488
	Others	-	6,861
		405.140	527.850

The Company's exposure to credit risk related to other receivables is disclosed in note 16.

8 Cash and cash equivalents

odon and odon equivalents	2013 \$	2012 \$
Cash at banks and in hand	35,607,493	15,241,088
Fixed deposits with banks		21,000,000
	35,607,493	36,241,088

The Company's exposure to interest rate risk related to cash and cash equivalents is disclosed in note 16.

9 Reserve fund

The reserve fund comprises amounts set aside by the Board of Directors for computerisation of the operations of the Company and other contingencies.

10 Trade and other payables

ridde and other payables	2013 \$	2012 \$
Royalties due to members	48,454,561	45,263,743
Accrued operating expenses	132,000	167,450
Other payables	532,837	673,597
	49,119,398	46,104,790

The amounts due to members are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

The Company's exposure to liquidity risk related to trade and other payables is disclosed in note 16.

11 Revenue

Revenue represents the licence and permit fees received, less refund of licence fees.

Year ended 31 December 2013

Surplus from operations before tax 12

	The following items have been included in arriving at surplus from operations		
	before tax:	2013	2012
		\$	\$
	Other income		
	Interest income:	146.660	212 502
	- fixed deposits	146,669	313,593
	- debt securities	246,612	214,857
	Others	-	5,000
	= =	393,281	533,450
	Staff costs		
	Wages and salaries	1,673,746	1,650,608
	Contributions to defined contribution plans	138,092	135,271
	Other staff related costs	53,893	51,486
	<u>-</u>	1,865,731	1,837,365
	Others		
	Directors' fees	18,000	21,000
	Operating lease expense	10,788	10,788
13	Tax credit	2012	2012
		2013 \$	2012 \$
		Ψ	Ψ
	Reconciliation of effective tax rate		
	Surplus from operations before tax	21,774	21,343
	Tax using the Singapore tax rate of 17%	3,702	3,628
	Tax incentive	(6,294)	(27,368)
	Non-deductible expenses	7,425	7,323
	Effect of wear and tear allowances utilised	(4,833)	-
	Deferred tax assets not recognised	_	16,417
	The following temporary differences have not been recognised:		
		2013	2012
		\$	\$
	Deductible temporary differences	(75,353)	(274,235)
	Unutilised capital allowances	517,819	745,128
	Unutilised tax losses	770,869	770,869
	_	1,213,335	1,241,762

The unutilised capital allowances and unutilised tax losses may be available for carry forward and set off against future taxable profits subject to arrangement with the tax authority and compliance with the provision of the Income Tax Act, Chapter 134. The deductible temporary differences, unutilised capital allowances and unutilised tax losses do not expire under current tax legislation.

Deferred taxable assets have not been recognised in respect of these items because it is not probable that future profit will be available against which the Company can utilise the benefits.

14 Related parties

Key management personnel

The directors and managers are considered as key management personnel of the Company.

	2013 \$	2012 \$
Short-term employee benefits	766,267	754,149
Contributions to defined contribution plans	42,158	45,750
	808,425	799,899

Other related party transactions

Other than those disclosed above, there were no other significant transactions with related parties.

15 Commitments

Capital commitments

Capital expenditures contracted for at the balance sheet date but not recognised in the financial statements are as follows:

	2013 \$	2012 \$
Property, plant and equipment	7,080,000	9,440,000

Operating lease commitments

The Company leases certain of its office equipment under non-cancellable operating lease with lease terms of 5 years.

At reporting date, the Company has commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases as follows:

and on the control of	2013 \$	2012 \$
Within one year	19,620	10,788
Between one and five years	-	19,620
·	19,620	30,408

16 Financial risk management

Overview

The Company has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

- credit risk
- liquidity risk
- interest rate risk
- foreign currency risk

This note presents information about the Company's exposure to each of the above risks, the Company's objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Company's management of capital.

Risk management framework

Risk management is integral to the whole business of the Company. The Company has a system of controls in place to create an acceptable balance between the cost of risks occurring and the cost of managing the risks. The management continually monitors the Company's risk management process to ensure that an appropriate balance between risk and control is achieved.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the potential financial loss resulting from the failure of a customer or a counterparty to settle its financial and contractual obligations to the Company, as and when they fall due.

Cash and fixed deposits are placed with banks and financial institutions which are regulated.

The Company limits its exposure to credit risks by investing only in liquid debt securities and only with counterparties that either have at least an acceptable credit rating based on rating agency ratings or in sound financial position. Management actively monitors credit ratings and the financial position of the counterparties, given that the Company only has invested in securities with high credit ratings, management does not expect any counterparty to fail to meet its obligations.

The Company did not have any held-to-maturity investments that were past due nor impaired at 31 December.

At the reporting date, there is no significant concentration of credit risk nor impairment on other receivables. The Company places its cash and cash equivalents with financial institutions of high credit rating. The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset in the statement of financial position.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.

The Company monitors its liquidity risk and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by management to finance the Company's operations and to mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

The carrying amounts of trade and other payables and finance lease liabilities reflect the expected contractual undiscounted cash outflows which are expected to be settled within one year.

Interest rate risk

Profile

At the reporting date, the interest rate profile of the Company's interest-bearing financial instruments was as follows:

	Carry amount	
	2013	2012
Fixed rate instruments	\$	\$
Financial assets	6,759,000	5,296,597

Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments

The Company does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. Therefore, a change in interest rates at the reporting date would not affect profit or loss.

Foreign currency risk

The Company is not exposed to foreign currency risk as all its balances as at reporting date are denominated in Singapore dollar.

Estimating fair values

The notional amounts of financial assets and liabilities with a maturity of less than one year (including other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, trade and other payables) are assumed to approximate their fair values.